THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000481

RECEIVED
NOV 21 2018
SC Court of Appeals

The State,..... Respondent,

v.

ONTAVIOUS DERENTA PLUMER

..... Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

Attorney for the Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For an incident occurring on October 11, 2015, the State charged the appellant, Ontavious Plumer, with armed robbery, attempted murder, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. The Greenwood County Grand Jury returned “true bill” indictments for these charges on July 8, 2016. R. 438-42.

On or about December 21, 2016, the State served its notice of intent to seek life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45. R. 444.

From February 6 – 8, 2017, the State tried Mr. Plumer before the Honorable Edward Miller and a jury. Elizabeth White and Josh Thomas represented the State. William Yarborough represented Mr. Plumer. The jurors convicted Mr. Plumer of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The jurors acquitted Mr. Plumer of armed robbery. Judge Miller sentenced Mr. Plumer to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for attempted murder and five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. The sentences are concurrent. R. 446-47.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Christopher "Jock" Maggiacomo arranged a drug deal between Oshamar Wells and Jamel Brownlee. On October 11, 2015, Mr. Wells met Mr. Brownlee and Ontavious Plumer at the Mr. Chip convenience store on South Main Street in Greenwood, South Carolina. Mr. Brownlee and Mr. Plumer followed Mr. Wells to Kema Moore's house on the west side of Greenwood. Ms. Moore is Mr. Wells' cousin. When they arrived at Ms. Moore's house, the three men sat at the kitchen table. In a cabinet next to the table, only an arm's reach away, Mr. Wells had a handgun he planned to use during the drug deal. The three men "smoked a couple of [marijuana] blunts," as Mr. Wells was letting his buyers try the product. Mr. Wells testified the two men expected him to sell them a pound of marijuana for \$3,600.00. R. 13-34, 71-72.

After smoking the blunts, Mr. Wells claims, "instead of pulling out the money," Mr. Plumer pulled out a gun. Mr. Wells "instantly" grabbed a 40-caliber handgun from the kitchen cabinet.¹ According to Mr. Wells, "everything happened so fast" it was a "blur." Mr. Wells testified, "I think I was actually getting hit when I reached to grab the gun out of the cabinet." Mr. Wells fell to the floor. Mr. Plumer "was returning fire" and "stepping back out of the door."² Mr. Wells fired his gun five or six times. R. 20-31, 44-46; State's Exhibits 1, 2.

¹ This gun belongs to Mr. Wells' mother, Wenona Wells. On direct examination, Mr. Wells claimed he saw his mother place the gun in the kitchen cabinet earlier in the day. On cross-examination, Mr. Wells acknowledged he planned for the gun to be in the kitchen cabinet in case he needed it during the drug deal. Mr. Wells is not allowed to possess a gun because of his criminal record. R. 21-22, 50, 68, 76-79, 81-83.

² Mr. Plumer went the Greenville Memorial Hospital in Greenville, South Carolina for treatment of his gunshot wounds. Deputy Andrew Reese of the Greenville

Mr. Wells called an ambulance, his aunt, and his mother, Wenona Wells. Ms. Wells arrived before the ambulance and law enforcement. One of Ms. Wells' grandchildren found the handgun Mr. Wells used to shoot Mr. Plumer. Ms. Wells put that handgun in her purse. She later put it in the trunk of her car, where it remained until her son asked her to deliver it to Investigator Wesley McClinton a couple of days later. R. 74-87, 233-34, State's Exhibit 10.

Officer Kerry Cooper of the Greenwood Police Department was the first law enforcement officer to arrive. He tried to get a description of possible suspects from Mr. Wells to provide to other patrol officers in the area. Mr. Wells said he was robbed by "two black males and that one was wearing a white tee shirt," but he did not provide any other specifics. Mr. Wells denied having a firearm, and he did not tell Officer Cooper about the drug deal. EMS arrived and transported Mr. Wells to the hospital. Officer Cooper secured the scene to be processed for evidence. R. 87-93, 100-04.

At the hospital, Mr. Wells told Greenwood Police Department Officer Patrick Durkin that two black males entered the residence, "told him to give it up," and began shooting. Mr. Wells continued to conceal his culpability in the confrontation. Officer Durkin photographed Mr. Wells' injuries and collected gunshot residue samples. R. 228-45.

Dr. Ricky Ladd, an emergency room physician at Self Regional Hospital, treated Mr. Wells' gunshot wounds. Mr. Wells had three entrance wounds and three exit wounds. Mr. Wells had two fractures in his hip and leg. A bullet transacted the femur neck. The second fracture below that area could have been caused by a bullet or by a fall.

County Sheriff's Office interviewed Mr. Plumer, who said he had been shot at a location in Greenville County. R. 107-11.

Dr. Ladd explained the bullet traveling through the femoral neck, which is a weight bearing bone, would have caused Mr. Wells to fall down immediately. R. 282-97.

Investigators located a black Mercedes Benz at Mr. Moore's residence. According to Department of Motor Vehicle records, the license tag for the black Mercedes Benz is registered to Walter Plumer of Starr, South Carolina, which is in Anderson County. Investigators Wesley McClinton and Mike Dixon spoke to Walter Plumer at this home, and he provided a written statement. Walter Plumer is Ontavious Plumer's grandfather. Walter Plumer initially denied knowing who was driving his Mercedes Benz and reported it stolen. He later acknowledged allowing his grandson, Ontavious Plumer, drive his Mercedes Benz on October 11, 2015. Mr. Plumer acknowledged being at Ms. Moore's residence and being shot. R. 128-30, 174-77, 181-83, 194-95.

Investigators Wesley McClinton and William Kay interviewed Mr. Wells at Self Regional Hospital in Greenwood. By his own admission, Mr. Wells did not tell the investigators the truth because he was afraid of getting into trouble. Mr. Wells initially told law enforcement "he was sitting at the kitchen table and two random guys came in the front door and tried to rob him, and that they ended up shooting him when he didn't have anything." Mr. Wells told law enforcement about the drug deal only after law enforcement confronted him about finding the Mercedes Benz driven by Mr. Plumer. Investigator McClinton testified about Mr. Wells' second statement:

The story was a drug deal was set up. He had met the two individuals at Mr. Chip. They followed him to the house on [redacted]. They were sitting at the table smoking marijuana and talking about the marijuana. [Mr. Wells] produced the marijuana and looked to who he said was Mr. Plumer to get the money and instead of pulling out the money Mr. Plumer pulled out a handgun and began firing at him.

R. 130-32.³ Investigator Kay, however, recalled Mr. Wells admitting he reached for his gun before Mr. Plumer started shooting. Investigator Kay testified Mr. Wells said “he was meeting two guys to sell them a quantity of marijuana and that they ended up trying to rob him, and during the robbery he reached for a gun to defen[d] himself and they began shooting and he returned fire.”⁴ Mr. Wells ultimately identified Mr. Plumer in a six-person photograph lineup. R. 26-29, 59-60, 115-19, 132-33; State’s Exhibit 8.

Investigator Mike Dixon of the Greenwood Police Department obtained a search warrant to process Kema Moore’s house. R. 178-80. Kenya Griffin, who is the crime scene and evidence technician for the Greenwood Police Department, processed Ms. Moore’s house for evidence. After photographing the residence, Officer Griffin collected numerous shell casings and projectiles. Officer Griffin also obtained a DNA sample from Mr. Plumer. Additionally, Officer Kerry collected a projectile from a residence across the street and provided it to Officer Griffin. Investigator McClinton collected a blood sample from the sidewalk in front of the residence and provided it to Sargent Griffin. Sargent Griffin transferred all of this evidence to the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”). R. 164-65, 200-215.

Tracey Thrower, a firearms examiner at SLED, determined at least two firearms were involved in the confrontation. Ten cartridge cases and two projectiles were fired by the handgun used by Mr. Wells. Agent Thrower determined that two projectiles were not

³ At some point, Mr. Wells told law enforcement that both Mr. Plumer and Mr. Brownlee “produced handguns and commenced shooting him striking him numerous times.” R. 136.

⁴ Mr. Plumer wanted to play Mr. Wells’ recorded statements for the jurors, but the trial judge sustained the solicitor’s objection. R. 154-56.

fired by Mr. Wells gun, but the examination could not determine whether these two projectiles were fired by the same gun. Agent Thrower determined six cartridge casings were fired by a gun other than the one fired by Mr. Wells. These six cartridge casings were fired by the same gun. Agent Thrower's examined an additional projectile but the result was inconclusive whether it was fired by Mr. Wells gun or another gun. R. 252-69.

Jennifer Clayton, a DNA analyst at SLED, determined the blood collected by Investigator McClinton from the sidewalk in front of Ms. Moore's residence matched the know DNA standard from Mr. Plumer. R. 269-75.

Megan Fletcher, a forensic scientist with SLED with training and experience analyzing gunshot residue, testified the Solicitor's Office requested SLED *not* conduct an analysis of the gunshot residue kit collected from Mr. Wells. She also testified that SLED never received the gunshot residue kit collected from Mr. Plumer. R. 236-52. The trial court judge sustained the State's objection to Dr. Robert Bennett testifying as an independent gunshot residue analyst. R. 356-66.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, this court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” *State v. McBride*, 416 S.C. 379, 385, 786 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2016). “Thus, on review, the court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion.” *Id.* “An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

Question 1

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by denying Ontavious Plumer's request for a jury instruction on self-defense when the jurors acquitted Mr. Plumer of armed robbery and direct and circumstantial evidence established the elements of self-defense?

Mr. Plumer requested the trial judge instruct the jurors about the law of self-defense, but the trial judge declined. R. 371-73. "The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. . . . , [and] a trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence." *State v. Hill*, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993). *And see State v. Blurton*, 352 S.C. 203, 207, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002) ("The evidence presented at trial determines the charged jury instruction. The purpose of a jury instruction is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." (internal citations and quotations omitted)). "If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error." *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 416-17, 535 S.E.2d 431, 434 (2000) (quoting *State v. Muller*, 282 S.C. 10, 316 S.E.2d 409 (1984)). "[W]hen a defendant claims self-defense, the State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011) (citing *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 544-45, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492-93 (1998)). A person is justified in using deadly force in self-defense when:

- (1) The defendant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) The defendant . . . actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in

such imminent danger; (3) If the defense is based upon the defendant's actual belief of imminent danger, a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and (4) The defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 545, 500 S.E.2d 489, 493 (1998) (citing *State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984)).

Seven facts establish that a self-defense instruction was required in this case. First, Mr. Wells admitted he was prepared to use his handgun during the drug transaction. Second, Mr. Wells placed himself in a location where he could stand up and his gun would be within an arm's reach. Third, Investigator Kay recalls Mr. Wells saying he reached for his gun before any shots were fired by Mr. Plumer. Fourth, according to Dr. Ladd, Mr. Wells would have fallen down when a bullet broke his femoral neck, meaning Mr. Wells had stood up and retrieved his handgun prior to that shot that broke that bone was fired. Fifth, Mr. Wells and his mother conspired to hide the gun and cover up his culpability in this incident, which is circumstantial evidence of a consciousness of guilt. *See, e.g., State v. Pace*, 337 S.C. 407, 415, 523 S.E.2d 466, 470 (Ct. App. 1999) ("As a general rule, any act or conduct on the part of the accused is admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt."). Sixth, Mr. Wells testimony provides evidence Mr. Plumer retreated from the confrontation. Seventh, the jurors acquitted Mr. Plumer of armed robbery, thereby removing the prosecution's motive for Mr. Plumer to commit attempted murder, including the inference of malice arising from shooting someone during the commission of another crime. *See, e.g., Gore v. Leeke*, 261 S.C. 308,

315, 199 S.E.2d 755, 757 (1973) (“The law itself implies the malice from proof of the felony.”).

Based the facts presented in this case, reasonable jurors could infer that Mr. Wells was the first person to introduce a firearm into the encounter, meaning Mr. Wells—not Mr. Plumer—was responsible for bringing on the difficulty. Once Mr. Wells introduced his handgun into the encounter, Mr. Plumer and Mr. Brownlee actually were in imminent danger of sustaining serious bodily harm or death. A reasonable person would have entertained such a belief. Under the circumstances, Mr. Plumer and Mr. Brownlee were justified in returning fire. Finally, it is not disputed that Mr. Plumer and Mr. Brownlee retreated from the incident location.

The trial judge seemingly believed Mr. Plumer was guilty of attempted murder and armed robbery and involved himself in plea negotiations.⁵ When Mr. Plumer wanted to continue his trial, the trial judge scolded Mr. Plumer, “Sometimes pride can be a real dangerous asset to have.” R. 319. From the record it is not clear whether the trial judge wanted Mr. Plumer to plead guilty because of the trial judge’s personal beliefs about Mr.

⁵ Our Supreme Court has adopted the American Bar Association’s Criminal Justice Standard 13-3.3, Guilty Pleas, Responsibility of the Trial Judge. *Harden v. State*, 276 S.C. 249, 250, 277 S.E.2d 692 (1981); *Medlin v. State*, 276 S.C. 540, 280 S.E.2d 648 (1981). Under this rule, the trial judge may participate in plea negotiations, but “the judge should never through word or demeanor, either directly or indirectly, communicate to the defendant or defense counsel that a plea agreement should be accepted or that a guilty plea should be entered.” *Medlin*, 276 S.C. at 542, 280 S.E.2d at 649. “The Standard is designed to prevent both the fact and the appearance of the trial judge’s becoming an advocate against the desires of the defendant or the State of a particular resolution.” *Harden*, 276 S.C. at 257, 277 S.E.2d at 695. “Due to the force and majesty of the judiciary, a trial court’s participation in the plea negotiation may skew the defendant’s decision-making and render the plea involuntary because a defendant may disregard proper considerations and waive rights based solely on the trial court’s stated inclination as to sentence.” *McDaniel v. State*, 271 Ga. 552, 553, 522 S.E.2d 648, 650 (1999).

Plumer's guilt or out of a "paternalistic" desire to protect Mr. Plumer from the mandatory life without parole sentence.⁶ R. 312. Regardless of his intentions, the trial judge never considered the possibility that Mr. Wells was responsible for the difficulty, and Mr. Plumer was innocent of armed robbery. *See, e.g. State v. Niles*, 400 S.C. 527, 532, 735 S.E.2d 240, 243 (Ct. App. 2012) ("The circuit court charged the jury on self-defense. . . . reasoning that 'either the victim started shooting and Mr. Niles was acting in self-defense or Mr. Niles started shooting ... [and] killed the victim during the commission of an armed robbery.'") *reversed on other grounds by State v. Niles*, 412 S.C. 515, 772 S.E.2d 877 (2015). This Court, accordingly, should order a new trial.

⁶ *See, e.g., State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 243, 741 S.E.2d 694, 703 (2013) ("It is apparent the trial court, like defense counsel, was operating under the paternalistic belief that it wanted to protect Appellant from potentially undermining his own defense.").

Question 2

Did the trial judge err as a matter of law by denying Ontavious Plumer's motion to relieve his trial counsel from representation and allowing Mr. Plumer to represent himself?

At the close of the second day of trial, the trial judge informed Mr. Plumer, "[T]he consequences of life without parole are just hard to enumerate." At the beginning of the third day of trial, Mr. Plumer moved the trial judge to relieve his trial counsel. Mr. Plumer explained the last offer from the state was for a term of imprisonment of seven years. Trial counsel had informed Mr. Plumer he "shouldn't worry about the life sentence because if I get found guilty of attempted murder that they was going to give me a lot of time anyway." Mr. Plumer further explained he did not understand that the life sentence was mandatory until the trial judge informed him the prior day. The colloquy between the trial judge, prosecutor, and trial counsel, revealed trial counsel's failure to communicate clearly with Mr. Plumer. The following exchange took place between Mr. Plumer and the trial judge:

THE COURT: "Do you want to go forward with this trial?"

THE DEFENDANT: I want to get me another lawyer.

THE COURT: No, that ain't happening. The jury is sworn. We are in the middle of your case. I'm not relieving him and we're not stopping this case so you can get a new lawyer. You want to go forward with this trial?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. I don't have no choice.

THE COURT: You do have a choice and you know what it is.

THE DEFENDANT: *I have a constitutional right to relieve my lawyer when I want to relieve him*, but I guess that don't – that ain't work like that down here.

THE COURT: So you want to go foreward with this? You know what your options are.

THE DEFENDANT: I don't have a choice.

THE COURT: You know what the options are that were discussed yesterday in the bench conference. The State would be willing to lift the life without parole notice in return for a guilty plea, so – and you – but you want to go forward to the jury; is that right?

THE DEFENDANT: I don't have a choice.

THE COURT: You do have a choice, and it's your choice and yours alone. You said you wanted to talk to your family.

THE DEFENDANT: I talked to more than my family though.

THE COURT: Okay. So you want to go forward; is that right?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. I ain't got no choice. I can't –

THE COURT: Stand up when you talk to me.

THE DEFENDANT: Obviously the Court don't believe nothing I'm saying anyway about me being able to get – my disability. They ain't believing nothing about that. You're going to believe what my lawyer said about it. But it's my life on the line and I know what was told to me – and I know how I took it and I understood. So, I mean, I don't have no choice but to go forward with it. And my constitutional rights being violated the whole time I've been down here. So let's go on with the trial.

R. 311-18 (emphasis added).

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