STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-000481

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ONTAVIOUS DERENTA PLUMER,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
NOV 19 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

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

Under such circumstances, Dr. Bennett could not properly “give the results of the test” by virtue of testifying as an expert because he would have merely been relaying the out-of-court statements and conclusions of a non-testifying witness purely for the truth of the matter asserted.¹³ See Marvel Characters, Inc. v. Kirby, 726 F.3d 119, 136 (2nd. Cir. 2013) (explaining “a party cannot call an expert simply as a conduit for introducing hearsay under the guise that the testifying expert used the hearsay as the basis of his testimony” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); see also People v. Sanchez, 374 P.3d 320, 334 (Cal. 2016) (“When any expert relates to the jury case-specific out-of-court statements, and treats the content of those statements as true and accurate to support the expert’s opinion, the statements are hearsay. It cannot logically be maintained that the statements are not being admitted for their truth.”). Therefore, regardless of whether Dr. Bennett personally had the minimum level of training and experience necessary to qualify as an expert, the trial judge properly declined to qualify Dr. Bennett as an expert and

¹³ Importantly, “giv[ing] the results of the test” was the *only* purpose for Dr. Bennett’s testimony that was identified by defense counsel. (R. p. 364).

allow him to serve as a mere conduit for inadmissible hearsay in Appellant's case, and the trial judge's ruling in that regard in no way constituted an abuse of discretion.¹⁴ See Jones, 372 S.C. at 62-63, 640 S.E.2d at 519 (recognizing our evidentiary rules governing expert testimony do "not allow for the unqualified admission of hearsay evidence merely because an expert has used it in forming an opinion"); see also Engebretsen v. Fairchild Aircraft Corp., 21 F.3d 721, 728 (6th Cir. 1994) (recognizing the federal evidentiary rules regarding expert testimony—which are identical to the related South Carolina evidentiary rules—"do not . . . permit the admission of materials, relied on by an expert witness, for the truth of the matters they contain if the materials are otherwise inadmissible"); cf. Price, 368 S.C. at 498, 629 S.E.2d at 365 (concluding the testimony of a witness qualified as an expert violated the prohibition against out-of-court statements being offered for the truth of the matter asserted where the witness "did not testify to his expert opinion, but rather relayed information from informants"). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

¹⁴ Even assuming the trial judge somehow erred by excluding Dr. Bennett's testimony, it is quite possible any error in the exclusion of that testimony—regardless of what the testimony revealed—would have been entirely harmless since: (1) the presence of gunshot residue would have been expected based on the fact Appellant had indisputably been shot during the incident; (2) the absence of gunshot residue would have been virtually meaningless based on the fact the evidence was not collected from Appellant's hands until hours after the shooting; and (3) the presence of gunshot residue following a shooting would have only revealed a range of possibilities that could not ordinarily be narrowed further. See State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 345, 665 S.E.2d 201, 210 (Ct. App. 2008) (recognizing an error resulting from the exclusion of evidence can be harmless where the excluded evidence "would have no impact on the outcome of the case"). However, due to the lack of an evidentiary proffer, it is not possible for such a harmless error analysis to be conducted, which emphatically demonstrates why our issue preservation requirements are so fundamentally important. Cf. Cabbagestalk, 281 S.C. at 36, 314 S.E.2d at 11 ("We are unable to determine from the record whether the testimony was so material as to render its exclusion prejudicial. Failure to make an offer of proof precludes the appellant from raising the issue on appeal.").

IV.

Any issue with Appellant's five-year sentence for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime was not properly preserved for appellate review because defense counsel did not raise any objections to Appellant's sentence during trial.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by sentencing him to a five-year term of imprisonment for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he could not lawfully be sentenced for the firearm conviction because he was sentenced to life without parole for his other conviction. Pursuant to South Carolina law, Appellant should not have been sentenced to five years for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime since he received a life without parole sentence for attempted murder. However, defense counsel did *not* object to Appellant's five-year sentence at any point during trial. As a result, any issue with Appellant's five-year sentence—which could not result in Appellant being incarcerated for longer than permissible for his crimes—was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

RELEVANT FACTS

At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant of attempted murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and the trial judge sentenced him to terms of imprisonment of life without parole for attempted murder and five years for the firearm offense. (R. p. 426; p. 430). After the sentences were imposed, neither Appellant nor defense counsel raised any objections of any kind. (R. p. 430).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Palmer, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016); see generally State v. Kimbrough, 212 S.C.

348, 353, 46 S.E.2d 273, 275 (1948) (“The power of an appellate court to review a sentence for the purpose of determining whether it offends the constitutional provision against cruel and unusual punishment may be sustained under the grant of power to correct errors of law in the judgment appealed from.”). As a result, an appellate court is limited to determining on appeal whether the trial judge abused his discretion, which occurs when the trial judge’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. Palmer, 415 S.C. at 511, 783 S.E.2d at 827.

ANALYSIS

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see also JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 185 (3rd ed. 2016) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). If an issue is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). Critically, as our appellate courts have repeatedly recognized, plain error review is simply not permitted in South Carolina. See State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 421, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011) (“[T]he plain error rule does not apply in South Carolina state courts.”); State v. Burroughs, 328 S.C. 489, 496, 492 S.E.2d 408, 411 (Ct. App. 1997) (“South Carolina has no ‘plain error’ rule.”).

Therefore, based on our issue preservation rules, a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue with a sentence for appellate review. State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998). Importantly, a defendant's failure to timely object to or seek modification of a sentence in the trial court precludes him from pursuing the issue on appeal. State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 475, 248 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1978); see State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) ("No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court."); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) ("A defendant's failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal. Appellant's contention was not advanced at the probation revocation hearing where the results were most favorable to him. By failing to object to or seek modification of the revocation sentence in the trial court he is now foreclosed from doing so on appeal." (citations omitted)).

Notably though, in State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 463-464, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999), our Supreme Court crafted a very specific and limited exception to our issue preservation requirements. In that case, Johnston was convicted of conspiracy to possess marijuana with intent to distribute and was sentenced—without objection—to a term of imprisonment of ten years for that offense despite the fact the maximum sentence statutorily authorized was only five years. Id. at 462, 510 S.E.2d 424. Johnston subsequently appealed her sentence, and, on appeal, this Court affirmed on issue preservation grounds since no objections were raised during trial. Id. at 461, 510 S.E.2d at 424. Thereafter, the Supreme Court granted a petition for a writ of certiorari and reversed. Id. In reversing, the Supreme Court noted it had "consistently held that a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate

review.” Id. at 462, 510 S.E.2d at 425. However, the Supreme Court found Johnston’s case involved “exceptional circumstances” because: (1) the State had conceded error in regard to the sentence; *and* (2) a “real threat” existed Johnston would be incarcerated beyond the permissible sentencing range for her conviction if she was forced to pursue relief through a post-conviction relief action.¹⁵ Id. at 463-464, 510 S.E.2d at 425. Based on those limited circumstances, the Supreme Court remanded Johnston’s case for resentencing despite the fact the sentencing issue had not been preserved during trial. Id. at 464, 510 S.E.2d at 425. Importantly though, the Supreme Court expressly cautioned its holding in Johnston’s case was based on the “unique” facts involved, which “demand[ed] an expedited result,” and was “not intended to disrupt our settled rules on issue preservation and PCR applications.” Id. at 464, n. 3, 510 S.E.2d at 425.

In the case at bar, Appellant was convicted of attempted murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime, and he was respectively sentenced to terms of imprisonment of life without parole and five years for those convictions. However, pursuant to

¹⁵ Subsequent to the decision in Johnston, this Court has recognized the limited nature of that case’s holding and has declined to apply its carefully-crafted exception broadly. See State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 585-586, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282-283 (Ct. App. 2005) (“We find the exceptional circumstance carefully carved out by the Johnston court is not present here. [Passmore] has already served the duration of her sentence; therefore, she does not face the threat of continuing incarceration beyond the legal sentence. Johnston does not control. . . . Regrettably, [Passmore] has suffered a violation of her right to a jury trial in this case. However, because she failed to raise an objection at trial, we are compelled to let the unconstitutional sentence stand.”). However, at other times, this Court has addressed unpreserved sentencing issues that did not squarely fall within the limited exception created in the Johnston decision. See State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 564, 735 S.E.2d 525, 526 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[A]n exception to the general rule of issue preservation exists authorizing the appellate court to consider an unpreserved issue in the interest of judicial economy under appropriate circumstances.”); State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 202, 682 S.E.2d 275, 282 (Ct. App. 2009) (“While the case at hand does not present a threat that Vick will remain incarcerated beyond the legal sentence as in Johnston, our courts have, in the past, ‘summarily vacated’ sentences for kidnapping where such sentences were precluded by § 16-3-910 because the defendant received a concurrent sentence under the murder statute.” (citations omitted)); but see Johnston, 333 S.C. at 462, n. 2, 510 S.E.2d at 425 (“[N]one of these cases addressed error preservation. Thus, they provide no support for Defendant’s position here.”).

South Carolina law, the five-year sentence statutorily authorized for possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime is *not* applicable when a criminal defendant is sentenced to life without parole for the underlying violent crime. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(a) (“This five-year sentence does not apply in cases where the death penalty or a life sentence without parole is imposed for the violent crime.”). Therefore, in light of his life without parole sentence for attempted murder, Appellant could not properly be sentenced to five years for the firearm offense, and the five-year sentence that was actually imposed was unquestionably objectionable. See Palmer, 415 S.C. at 525, 783 S.E.2d at 835 (vacating Palmer’s five-year sentence for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime where Palmer was sentenced to life without parole for murder *and* “Palmer objected to the [five-year] sentence”).

Critically though, defense counsel did *not* object to Appellant’s objectionable five-year sentence—which in no way could create a “real threat” Appellant would be incarcerated for a longer period of time than he permissibly could be incarcerated since he was also sentenced to life without parole—at any point during trial, and no arguments were raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge in regard to the propriety of the five-year sentence. See In re Walter M., 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also Johnston, 333 S.C. at 463-464, 510 S.E.2d at 425 (addressing an unpreserved sentencing issue where a “real threat” existed Johnston would be incarcerated beyond the permissible sentencing range for her conviction if she was forced to pursue relief through a post-conviction relief action). Because defense counsel did not raise the sentencing issue Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal, the sentencing judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon it during trial. See Queen’s Grant, 368 S.C. at 372-373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“Issue

preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” (citations omitted)); see also State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 64, 406 S.E.2d 315, 326 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result for the majority) (“[A] contemporaneous objection requirement to preserve legal errors operates to procedurally preclude a defendant from allowing error to occur at trial and then complaining of it on appeal.”). Under those circumstances, Appellant’s appellate challenge to his sentence is not properly preserved for appellate review and simply cannot appropriately be raised or addressed for the first time on appeal.¹⁶ See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); cf. State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker’s appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed “on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below”). Otherwise, any appellate review of Appellant’s sentencing issue would constitute plain error review, which is not permitted in South Carolina. See Sheppard, 391 S.C. at 421, 706 S.E.2d at 19 (instructing plain error review is not applicable in South Carolina). Appellant’s convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

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